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ST ALBANS LAWN TENNIS CLUB 

 
THE FIRST 100 YEARS 

 
 

A VIEW FROM THE PATIO 
 
In order to fully appreciate the excellent facilities and atmosphere which we have at the Club 
today, it is interesting to look back on what has made us what we are.  It has been fascinating to 
go back through the Club’s minutes, starting in a bygone age and tracking the Club’s progress 
to the 21st century.  From quill pen to the palmtop, from long white ‘whites’ to a more colourful 
era, from the horse to the fuel-injected car.  What has however remained constant over the 100 
years are the personalities involved and the dedication of certain individuals to run your Club on 
a purely voluntary basis because they want to, not because they have to - they know who they 
are.  It has been a team effort both on and off the court. 
 
My thanks to an unnamed individual who wrote a short synopsis of the Club during its Hillside 
days.  I have plagiarised some of their work but added bits which may be of more quirky interest 
to someone reading it in 2004 than when it was first written.  Hindsight is a wonderful thing and I 
am sure some of today’s activities will be seen as ‘quirky’ in the not too distant future. 
 
I am sure the Club will be around for the next 100 years and if anyone would like to supply any 
additional anecdotes or stories I will place them in a time capsule for the next fortunate 
individual who will no doubt have to read and decipher minutes covering the past 200 years 
rather than a mere 100 ! 

 
Thanks for your interest and enjoy your tennis, 
 
 
Simon Bird 
Chairman 
 
November 2004 

 



© Simon Bird – do not distribute without permission 

 

3 
 

ST ALBANS LAWN TENNIS CLUB  
 
 
This Club is the oldest tennis club in St Albans and as we are now in our centenary year, it is 
perhaps a good opportunity to summarise the most interesting facts in our 100 year existence.  
St Albans Lawn Tennis & Croquet Club started in humble beginnings in Hillside Road (now part 
of Maple School).  Tennis was played there between 1905 and 1968 before moving to the 
current site in Jersey Lane. 
 
The initial recorded meeting to discuss the setting up of the Club took place in August 1904.  A 
circular had been sent the previous month to local residents (see ‘A’ attached) to ascertain if 
there was sufficient interest saying “It is proposed to form a Lawn Tennis and Croquet Club and, 
if space permits, to reserve a part of the ground for Archery”.  Promises of membership were 
received from 197 individuals and it was decided that the estimated annual income of £180 
would be “sufficient revenue to carry on the Club”.  The Club was then incorporated in late 
November 1904. 
 
Play started the following year in June 1905.  The first bye-laws make for interesting reading 
(see ‘B’ attached).  The Club was open from the first Saturday in May to the last in September.  
Play started at 2 p.m. and there was no play on Sundays.  No members under 15 or dogs were 
allowed.  There were four grass tennis courts and two grass croquet lawns.  Membership was 
around about 200 in total and subscriptions were £1 1s 0d for playing members and 7/6d for 
non-playing members. 
 
The following year a joining fee of £1 1s 0d. was introduced for new members but it was by no 
means certain new applicants would be accepted.  The committee aimed to keep more or less 
an equal balance between male and female members.  Rules were always very strictly enforced 
and anyone wishing to resign had to do so in writing to the Secretary before 1st April each year, 
otherwise their resignation was not accepted and payment of the annual subscription was 
insisted upon.  1906 also saw the start of the Club Championship Tournaments. 
 
An interesting item that appears each year in all the early accounts (see ‘C’ attached) is an 
item starting at £5 5s 0d but increasing slightly throughout the years for “horse hire”.  One can 
well visualise, in that more leisurely and spacious age, the horse with hooves muffled in 
sacking, patiently plodding up and down harnessed to the Club’s heavy roller.  
 
In February 1912 the Club became affiliated to the LTA.  
 
Inevitably there was some falling off in membership during the First World War and there was 
difficulty in finding people who could spare the time to run the Club efficiently, but apart from 
that the Club seems to have prospered much as before.  The strict subscription rules were 
relaxed for those members absent on active service who were made honorary members during 
their absence. 
 
1923 saw the beginning of the decline of the croquet section.  By this time there were only 10 
croquet members left and one of their two lawns was converted to tennis.  No more mention of 
croquet is made in the Minutes and it is safe to assume it died out  
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shortly after this.  It was however not until 1999 that the “and Croquet Club” was dropped from 
the Club’s full title. 
 
The Club began to feel the need for its own hard courts and in 1926 the first of two were 
constructed.  In 1933 an amendment to the Deeds was sought to allow play on Sundays and in 
1934 a licence was sought to “enable intoxicating liquor to be sold on Sundays”. 
 
Undoubtedly the Club’s most famous member was Miss Kay Stammers who was England’s No1 
player in the period before the Second World War.  A left hander, she was, apparently, “one of 
the most graceful players, always a delight to watch”.  As a youngster she won the Ladies 
Singles and the Ladies Doubles in the Club’s Championships before going on to greater things 
(see ‘D’ attached) and in 1937 she was elected an honorary member of the Club in recognition 
of her achievements in international tennis. 
 

 
 

From the book ‘Perry on Tennis’ by Fred Perry 

 
Much the same difficulties were encountered in running the Club during the Second World War 
as were encountered during the First.  However, the club ran into serious financial difficulties 
when the membership fell due to the War - it was not possible to keep the grounds in good 
repair and at the same time pay interest on loans.  The problem seems to have arisen as the 
Club had initially been financed by the issue of debentures to members, which had been 
increased over the years to pay for further ground improvements.  Interest was due on these 
debentures which the Club could not afford to pay.  An EGM was held in September 1940 when 
the Club’s problems were explained to the members and debenture holders.  The Club nearly 
collapsed but thankfully still exists today because of the debenture holders agreeing to waive 
their interest for the duration of hostilities “if that would be the means of keeping the Club going” 
(see ‘E’ attached).   
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It is interesting to note that in 1942 members were allowed to use the clubhouse during 
blackouts on weekends during the winter, the clubhouse having previously been shut 
throughout the winter months.   
 
There seems to have been a change in attitude towards juniors shortly after the War. The age 
when juniors were admitted was reduced to 14 with discretion to admit even younger members 
“in approved cases”.  Family membership discounts were introduced to “encourage the junior 
membership”.  Other children were even allowed on the Club grounds if accompanied by an 
adult ! The minutes record that in 1948 a Mr Wortley and Peggie Hitchcock “introduced a highly 
successful Junior Tournament for the young members and their friends”. This tournament 
continues to this day.  You can see some pictures of Peggie (‘F’ attached) from local 
newspapers in the 60’s – more about her later ! 
 
For some time after the war there was difficulty in obtaining replacements for nets, posts and for 
general repairs due to the lack of materials and expert labour.  In 1947 two more hard courts 
were laid (cost £560) on top of two of the grass courts, again, financed by loans from members.  
It is incredible to find electric light was only brought to the clubhouse in 1953, the year of the 
Coronation.  Before that there was no light in the dressing rooms and only a gas mantle in the 
main room and the kitchen. In 1951 “it was suggested that a candle and holder and a box of 
matches be provided for each changing room”. 
 
It is interesting to note that even in the 50’s they struggled to find volunteers to man the bar and 
provide teas. It “proved well nigh useless to put up a list on the board ….. response has been 
negligible”.  Some things never change ! 
 
As funds were short, the annual subscription dramatically increased from £2.15s in 1946 to 
£3.10s the following year, presumably on the back of the improved court facilities. In 1948, with 
the new hard courts, winter tennis was introduced. Perhaps surprisingly, juniors were not 
allowed to play winter tennis until 1965 when the junior membership began to fall.  However, 
due to the lack of any floodlighting winter tennis was obviously limited. 
 
Generally in the early 50’s, the Club regularly came close to the overdraft limit of £100 
(guaranteed by certain members) – everything was carefully costed and there were no 
extravagancies.   
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50th Anniversary Celebrations ! 
 

 
 
 
In the summer of 1954 the Club celebrated its 50th Anniversary and a Dinner Dance was held.  
A number of official guests were invited including as many of the original members who could 
be found.  Mrs Menzies (formerly Kay Stammers) was guest of honour.  A number of 
entertainments were organised at the Club but unfortunately these had to be curtailed on 
account of the weather.  However there was a costume parade, some croquet and a game of 
tennis played in the fashions of 1904.  Kay Stammers presented prizes for the best costume. 
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From 1951 until 1957 the poor quality of the grass courts seems to have caused an annual 
reduction in membership which resulted in a shortage of funds for ground improvements. At an 
EGM held in 1955 the Committee said they were seriously disturbed by the declining and high 
turnover of membership and the deterioration of the sound financial position which had been 
built up during the past few years.  It therefore seems surprising that in 1954 a playing-in test 
was first introduced for those over 18, although the reasoning seems to be that they considered 
falling standards of tennis had partly contributed to the declining membership - there was no 
equivalent test for juniors whose numbers continued to increase. 
 
In 1956 junior representatives were welcomed on to the Committee.  In the same year a young 
Mr Charles Allistone was voted on to the Committee as the person responsible for, yes you 
guessed it, Grounds. A position he holds today !! 
  
In 1959 the finances were described as “gloomy” and, to a large extent, the successful junior 
section provided a significant part of the Club’s income. The 1960’s saw problems experienced 
by most private Clubs, that of the rising cost of materials and labour for court repairs which 
could not be matched by increasing subscriptions.  A number of fund-raising activities were 
organised to raise money for the Club – jumble sales, raffles, dances, car treasure hunts, 
cocktail parties and others. They even considered converting a grass court into two squash 
courts which must have been a revolutionary concept at that time, a decade before the 70’s 
boom, but funding proved impossible so the idea was dropped. 
 
In 1962 Peggie Hitchcock, who had been on the Committee continually since 1940 and who 
many of the current members will remember, was appointed Secretary of the Club after 10 men 
had declined the position.  She agreed to “take on the job for one year on a trial basis” (which 
was actually to last for 15 years !).  Also in the same year, the playing in test was abandoned 
(later reintroduced in 1970) and the Club agreed to give membership to “a limited number of 
inexperienced players”.   
 
It was obvious that a better clubhouse was needed with changing facilities but the “cost of the 
project was such that the Club would have been obliged to realise all its liquid assets and 
interest on loan repayments would have proved a crippling burden”.  There appeared no way 
forward other than to continue a hand to mouth existence. Annual profits were around £100 per 
annum, hardly sufficient to plan court renewals let alone improvements.   
  
It was announced at the 1965 AGM that the Council intended to build a primary school on the 
site in two years time. Despite protests and appeals, after 64 years at Hillside Road the Club 
were forced by compulsory purchase to start afresh at the “rather rural position “ in Jersey Lane.  
 
Plans were put in place to purchase the land and an architect was employed to design “an 
attractive clubhouse, large enough to provide adequate changing space and facilities for social 
events on a scale not previously possible”. 
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The Club had to vacate the Hillside Road site in September 1968 and, as the Jersey Lane site 
was not yet ready, they hired 5 grass courts from the Council in Clarence Park.  While 
development at Jersey Lane continued it was reported that “there had been difficulty in keeping 
horses off the property”.  The 1969 and 1970 Junior Tournaments were held at Townsend LTC.  
In 1969 Peggie Hitchcock suggested “there should be a junior club evening on Fridays”, which 
continues to this day.   
 
The Jersey Lane clubhouse was completed at the end of January 1971 and a sherry party was 
organised as part of the official opening ceremony, which took place on 28th March 1971.  
Residents of Rose Walk and Jersey Lane were invited (see ‘G’ attached).  The grass courts 
came into use in June 1971.  Initially there were 6 grass, 3 shale and 2 tennis quick courts.  
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A number of changes occurred in the early 70’s relating to what could and could not be worn on 
court.  In 1971 the minutes declare that the rule,  “white dress and tennis shoes are to be worn 
by all members when playing” was not being adhered to.  In 1972 “some members are still 
wearing track suits”.  That same year they changed the rule so that “dress” now included 
“cardigans and pullovers”.  Later that year the rule was again changed saying, “track suits may 
be worn in extremely unseasonal weather”.  In 1974 a member asked if coloured shirts could be 
worn but opinion sought from County came back as being unfavourable. 
 
It seems a table tennis section was started in 1971 by Tony and Frances Wilkins.  We had two 
teams and both were promoted in their first season.  A third team was introduced in 1973.  
 
At the 1972 AGM it was reported that damage to surrounding fences by members collecting lost 
balls had enabled horses to wander onto our grounds causing damage.  The following year an 
electric fence was installed !  “The fence is not dangerous but would give a slight electric shock 
– members have been advised”.     
 
In 1973 there were 160 senior members and 75 juniors.  Due to the capacity of the courts, only 
children of members were allowed to join unless they were of a very high standard (by 1974 the 
junior membership was full and no new junior members could join). They started a club night on 
Wednesday evenings for seniors during the summer “with cold suppers”.  
 
On a number of occasions in the early 70’s the poor state of the shale and grass courts was 
brought up.  The shale courts needed regular watering and rolling.  The loose grit from these 
courts also caused a problem by being transferred to the “games room”.  By 1974 the state of 
all courts had given cause for concern to such an extent that the club sought the views of 
members through a questionnaire as to whether they would pay increased subs to fund a full 
time groundsman.  Despite the answer being “no” over 200 fund raising ideas were put forward 
which resulted in the club taking on an experienced groundsman on a part time basis.  
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By 1975 the condition of the courts had improved and the three en-tout-cas shale courts had 
been resurfaced.  The men’s first team were promoted to the Championship Group in 1976 and 
the first and second ladies teams were both in the Intermediate Group. The first ladies team 
was promoted to the Championship Group the following year. This was possibly the Clubs 
overall peak in terms of team success.   
 
Bill Pocock introduced Saturday morning coaching in 1977 for beginners and slightly advanced 
juniors.  It seems that Bill’s talents extended further than his coaching abilities – he wrote this 
poem among others : 
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Can you spot the brave members who seem to be auditioning for “A Chorus Line” ? 
 

 
 
 

Did you spot Robert Graham, Sidney Ratcliffe and Mike Hobbs ? 
 
It seems that due to a lack of volunteers to help run the entertainment sub-committee, some of 
the regular seasonal events had to be cancelled.  However, it was an exceptional year on the 
courts with the Ladies 1st team finishing runners up in the Championship Group and the 2nd and 
3rd teams winning all their matches in the 1st and 2nd Divisions.   In 1978 the Ladies won the 
Championship Group and their team included both the Ladies County Grass Court Champion 
and the Ladies County Hard Court Champion.  Quite an achievement. 
 
Vintage tennis racquets were donated to the Club and put in the small lounge.  The following 
year (1978) the minutes mention the use of yellow tennis balls in Watford League Matches 
rather than the white ones which “are easier to re-sell”.  In 1986, the year that yellow tennis 
balls were first used at Wimbledon, the club received advice from the LTA that balls for County 
League matches should be either all white or all yellow.  
 
During the squash boom of the 70’s there were many discussions and proposals to introduce 
squash courts on the Jersey Lane site.  In 1978 there was much controversy when the 
Committee took the decision to ignore the wishes of a majority of members, who had responded 
to a survey, who seemed to be in favour of introducing squash.  The committee took the view 
that those responding didn’t reflect the views of the majority of club members.  The squash 
option finally bit the dust in 1981 when a planning application was rejected due to the lack of car 
parking space. 
 
The small lounge was redecorated and furnished (£130).  Both children and animals were 
banned from using it. 
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The Club finances continued to be tight with subscriptions generally only increasing by inflation 
– an astounding 25% in 1980 !  It appears that the floodlighting system was in continual need of 
repair and doubts were expressed as to the amount of light given out by them.  Problems 
continued with repairs needed to the tennisquick and the grass courts.  The temporary lack of a 
groundsman led to a motion being passed at the 1979 AGM “that every playing member be 
asked to do a minimum of 2 hours work on the grounds”.  
 
A pool table was introduced into the main clubhouse area alongside the table tennis table.  
 
In 1980 a “get together” was arranged in the clubhouse to celebrate 50 years of membership by 
Peggie Hitchcock.  She was presented with a vase.  Mention should be made that a similar 
celebration took place ten years later to celebrate her 60th year as a member (see ‘H’ 
attached).  As far as we are aware this longevity of membership has never been surpassed, 
although we do today have a few members with over 50 years dedicated membership. 
  
At the beginning of the decade the Club continued to be financed by interest free loans from 
members and a £1,000 bank overdraft.  The lack of funds led to the shale courts “ailing” due to 
high maintenance costs and problems associated with drainage. 
 
Dress became a hot topic again in 1983 and 1984.  The Committee discussed the “adverse 
trends” and decided that blue shorts and skirts were not acceptable.  The predominantly white 
rule remained, later to be refined to a very precise “2/3rds of every garment”.  The 1983 AGM 
was dominated by the matter and in the following year the bye laws were changed so that 
players had to wear “tailored sports clothing suitable for tennis ……. at least two-thirds white”.  
(In 1991 the two thirds white rule was abolished and it was left “up to committee members to 
decide in individual cases”.) 
 
In 1979 “a suggestion was made that synthetic carpet courts be considered” but it was not until 
1984 that it was agreed, subject to raising funds, to convert the shale courts to “an all weather 
surface of high specification”.  It would be some years before these dreams could become a 
reality. 
 
In 1983 Bill Pocock stood down from the Committee after many years at the heart of the Junior 
Section.  A Mr Tony Wilkins took over ! 
 
Finances gradually improved during the Thatcher years but it must be said that the Club 
continued to rely heavily on loans from members. 
 
There was much excitement in May 1986 when Mark Cox and John Feaver attended the club 
on a Yamaha sponsored tennis clinic day.  It seems that they catered for over 500 people but in 
the event around 200 turned up – still an excellent turn out.  One unforeseen problem arose 
when they discovered that the Quadrant car park, which was to be used for overflow parking, 
was being used for a car boot sale that same day ! 
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1984 
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For some reason the regular Bridge afternoon was changed to coincide with the Yoga booking.  
They had to revert to their previous booking due to “problems of distraction for the Yoga 
people”.  Should this have been the other way around ? 
 
In 1986 Robert Graham understandably asked to stand down from his position as Secretary “at 
some stage soon” after 20 years on the Committee.  He eventually succeeded in doing so in 
1989 before becoming Chairman in 1995.   
 
Despite falling membership (15% down between 1988 and 1989) the 90’s started with an LTA 
loan for floodlighting and carpet court improvements of £33,000 to be repaid over 10 years.  
This left an income each year of about £1,200. It was explained to the AGM that “while the 
committee are looking into the possibility of new and improved facilities, we must initially 
concentrate on paying off our debts.”  The options were – increase membership numbers or the 
subscriptions.  A couple of local tennis clubs folded in 1991 owing to financial difficulties during 
the recession.  
 
Presumably due to the improved facilities the number of members began to increase.  By 1991 
the juniors and intermediates section was full (150 maximum allowed) and there was a waiting 
list.  In 1991 the club was awarded “The Giro Bank Junior Club of the Year”.  Junior club nights 
were well attended and trips were organised each year to Wimbledon and further afield.  
 
By 1992 the size of the committee had become “overlarge and unwieldy” with 19 directors.  A 
reorganisation took place delegating some of the posts to sub-committees.  As a result Peggie 
Hitchcock dropped off the committee after a 52 year unbroken spell which is “certainly unique in 
the history of the club and possibly in the history of tennis”.  She received an award from the 
LTA and was presented with a miniature replica of the Olympic Torch by the Duke of Kent at a 
ceremony in London.  The Club presented her with “a framed valediction” as recognition of her 
work and she became a Vice President.    
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The 1992 AGM discussed whether to retain the playing in standard with some arguing that 
dropping it would mean increased membership, while others argued it would mean that the 
better players would leave.  It was retained …. for a while.  
 
1993 saw the club house being repainted externally and the “replacement of the window frames 
which were rotten.”  The following year saw some new curtains in the clubhouse. 
 
This year saw what was to be the last Junior Tournament run by Peggie Hitchcock.  At the 
handicap finals day the Mayor, Sheila Burton, presented the cups. 
 
There continued to be a high turnover of members and the committee were urged to “provide 
the facilities the members wanted and to create an ambience which encouraged them to stay.”  
The LTA Development Officer advised the committee that at the larger clubs they didn’t want to 
see more than four carpet courts, and encouraged cushioned acrylic.  An exceptionally detailed 
analysis of “possible short, medium and long term club improvements” was drawn up by Tony 
Pritchard. As a result, the committee decided that carpet courts would provide most enjoyment 
to a majority of members. 
 
The character of the club and attitudes were slowly changing around this time. The minutes 
included a prophetic statement : “With our current court mix and the lack of all year round play 
we haven’t the flexibility to cope well with the needs and expectations of today’s players.  The 
worry is that we are not attracting as many new members as we should be and probably losing 
some.  This situation can only be remedied by providing more all year round courts.” The 
majority decision at an Extraordinary General Meeting held in 1994 to dig up the three middle 
grass courts and replace them with three artificial grass courts was a “quantum leap forward”.  
Unfortunately the Club’s finances meant that the decision had to be put on hold in the short 
term. 
 
Membership trends continued on a worrying downward trend especially due to the high turnover 
of members.  “The main committee is finding it increasingly difficult to recruit volunteers and 
there are indications that the Club could be starting to run down.”  In order to rectify this an 
informal brainstorming session was organised “looking for ways of improving our current 
practices and seeking new and possibly radical ideas which could make us sufficiently different 
from other clubs to attract new members and allow us to build for the future.”  This meeting took 
place in July 1995 and turned out to be highly successful with 60 suggestions under the 
category “What we don’t have but want.”  The more realistic yet, at the time, surprisingly radical 
ideas included : 
 
1. More singles play and competitions 
 
2. No playing in tests 
 
3. Increased links with schools to utilise our courts during slack periods 
 
4. Alternative ways of paying for the floodlights, possibly including in the annual subscription 
 
5. Better communication with current and new members and the removal of ‘cliques’ 
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In order to kick start the new era of development, fully floodlit artificial grass courts were laid 
over the middle grass courts in August 1995, partly paid for with a large VAT repayment and an 
LTA loan. 
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During the 90’s various planning applications had been made relating to the building of houses 
on the surrounding grassland.  Up until the new development began we were surrounded by 
fields with resident horses and donkeys who always appeared to show an interest in the 
entertainment being provided by the ‘humons’ !  A Public Inquiry in 1996 approved the building 
of 79 houses.   
 
There were three break-ins in October 1996.  Each time the bar and payphone were forced 
open with both stock and money being stolen.  A silent alarm was successfully installed with the 
result that in November four men were arrested on site.  Subsequently, three were found guilty, 
one of whom failed to convince the judge that he couldn’t possibly be guilty because he was 
much too drunk at the time !     
 
The Secretary reported that there had been a total of 13 break-ins since 1985 – with a loss of 
about £1,000 in cash and bar stock plus £2,500 worth of damage.  i.e. £270 loss per year on 
average.  This was considered an acceptable price to pay for allowing the club to remain an 
accessible arena to enjoy tennis 
 
In 1997 the committee carried out a fundamental review “on what sort of club we wanted to be”, 
either a family club or one to attract the top class players.  It was decided that we wanted to 
remain as a family club and needed a coach who would be involved with the whole club rather 
than someone who just wanted to use the club as a base for their own coaching purposes.  In 
September, Tony Wilkins, who had been a coach at the Club some years previously (1983 to 
1988), was welcomed back as Head Coach. 
 
A completely unprompted “Clean up our Club Day” was organised by two juniors who between 
them did just that – without attracting any volunteers to help them.  This was very gratefully 
appreciated by the committee. 
 
Interest in winter tennis had dropped off over the years with only two mens and 4 mixed leagues 
running.  Despite the lack of winter play the club persisted in charging for the floodlights and the 
removal of this charge in 1997 was to lead to a much more vibrant and active club during the 
dark winter months.  Over 50% of the adult membership are now participating in the winter 
mixed leagues. 
 
Consideration was being given to introducing a second sport to the Club in order to maximise 
revenue although no great enthusiasm was found from the members at the AGM who felt “we 
just needed to increase membership numbers”.  Current funding levels meant that they were 
unable to replace the three original carpet courts that had shown signs of deterioration.  
 
A small number of “enthusiastic members” had set up the WAGS (The Way Ahead Group).  
Their aim was to tackle the problems of poor facilities (playing and non-playing), low playing 
standards and the non-increasing membership.  A well attended evening meeting was arranged 
by them in September 1998 to discuss with the members the Club’s future strategy.  A 
presentation was made by the Secretary of the Herts LTA and officers of two other local clubs, 
followed by group discussions led by facilitators.  “We firmly believe that we must move forward 
as to stand still means we will fall behind other clubs”.    
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Nearly all of the WAGS were elected on to the Committee in 1998 and their ‘leader’, Sheila 
Burton, immediately became the first woman Chairman of the Club.   
 
1999 saw the “... and Croquet” being dropped from the Club’s registered name, and the erection 
of a 15 metre high telecom mast.  The latter was to provide a much needed input of funds to the 
club on a regular basis. 
   
A survey of the membership showed 80% of those responding (more than 50% of households 
with adult members) in favour of converting the remaining grass courts to more carpet courts.  
Three of the old carpet courts were resurfaced, giving us six excellent carpet courts, three 
underused grass courts plus the four hard courts.  An article in the Herts Advertiser (‘I’ 
attached) shows youngsters using the new facilities. 
 
A rolling plan of improvements was implemented with aims : 
 
a) For the club to become the top club in St Albans by providing the best standard of facilities 
 
b) To retain the current level of membership and increase it over the next three years with 

targets for specific age groups 
 
c) To develop a more open club which can be used by schools and other user groups 
 
d) To refurbish the clubhouse  
 
e) To offer a tennis programme for the disabled rather than just access. 
 
A charity breakfast was organised by Sheila Burton and Anne Swallow which was much 
appreciated by all those who partook.  Other charity events were held including “Simon’s Super 
Charity Quiz Night” which still continues on an annual basis raising money for local disabled 
youngsters. 
 
The Millennium celebrations came and went with a lively privately run party with all profits going 
to local charity.  Fireworks launched from the courts joined thousands of others lighting up the 
sky at midnight.  
 
The new millennium began slowly at the Club with a new electronic keypad being installed 
together with a bike rack.  However, “all loans to the Club have now been fully repaid and 
guarantors have been relieved of former covenants”.  Probably for the first time in the club’s 
history we were self funding.  
 
The committee agreed not to support a planning application by Orange to increase the height of 
their telecom mast which would have inevitably led to more satellite dishes.  Partly as a result of 
our lack of support the application was eventually withdrawn. 
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In 2000 the committee had discussed the fact that the patio had been built at different levels 
over the years, which was considered “unfriendly to wheelchairs, and somewhat dangerous to 
younger guests due to the lack of railings”.   
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Potential changes were considered to facilitate disabled access at the club including installing 
disabled toilets, wheelchair ramps from the patio and from the car park to the front door.  Plans 
were drawn up and the new patio was opened in the Spring of 2002. 

 
2003 was the end of an era at St Albans Tennis Club with the digging up of the last three grass 
courts.  The importance of the event was recognised by the holding of a Wooden Racquet 
Tournament, with some gentleman players dressing up in long white trousers and boaters.  
Ironically, the winners were two youngsters who had never even held a wooden racquet in their 
life before that day ! 
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More pictures from the Wooden Racquet Tournament 



© Simon Bird – do not distribute without permission 

 

33 
 

 
The grass disappeared towards the end of 2003 and a further three carpet courts took their 
place in early 2004, hopefully to be fully floodlit before the end of the year.  The cost of well over 
£100,000 was many times the £1,580 paid for the whole ground at Hillside Road exactly 100 
years before. The clubhouse windows were replaced and the kitchen re-painted.  There are 
other improvements in the pipeline but there will always be room for more. 
 
Mini tennis was becoming increasingly popular with youngsters and in 2004 Nancey Brooke 
was appointed ‘Mini Tennis Co-ordinator’.  The words ‘mini tennis red, orange and green’ 
entered our vocabulary. 
 
This is where our history story ends for now.  We should be proud of our past and the trials and 
tribulations which have got us to where we are today.  We have a Club that will have nine 
excellent fully floodlit carpet courts and a new patio admired by both members and visitors.  We 
have an increasing membership and money in the bank. Most of all we have a friendly club 
where everyone seems to enjoy their tennis.  Not a bad way to end the first 100 years ! 
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Appendix 
 
 

 Officers of the Club since 1904 (as updated in 2009 edition) 
 
 

 Income in the Hillside Days 
 
 

 Income since moving to Jersey Farm (as updated in 2009 edition) 
 
 

 
 

Chairmen (past and present) at the 2004 Handicapped Finals Day  

 

 (John Harris, Robert Graham, Sheila Burton and Simon Bird)  
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Officers of the Club 
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Officers of the Club 
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